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Repatriation RFP Q&A 
 
 
1. How many B.C. First Nations will the contractor be expected to engage in the study for the cost 

analysis? Will FPCC be part of the selection process? 
 
FPCC will have some suggestions regarding potential First Nations the contractor could engage in 
the study. The contractor will be expected to engage a minimum of 4-6 First Nations in the study. 
The contractor will be responsible for completing the selection process, drawing on their existing 
networks, relationships and research, and ensuring that all required consent/permissions are in 
place, including the completion of Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) forms.  

 
2. How many First Nations museums and/or organizations will the contractor be expected to engage 

in the study for the cost analysis? Will FPCC be part of the selection process? 
 
The contractor is expected to engage with a minimum of 3 First Nations museums and/or cultural 
organizations and FPCC will assist in the selection process. In addition, a main focus of this study will 
be to engage with one to two large museums in B.C. and at least 2 non-museum entities, such as 
UBC, SFU and UVIC. The contractor will be responsible for completing the selection process and 
drawing on their existing networks, relationships and research. Confirming participation will be the 
responsibility of the contractor.  
 

3. Has FPCC retained a Peer Review Committee (PRC) for the purpose of this study and how will the 
PRC be engaged in reviewing the research? 
 
FPCC will establish a peer review committee (PRC) made up of heritage professionals and experts 
from across Canada once the project has commenced. The PRC will be responsible for completing a 
full review of the final project report and recommendations. Establishing the PRC and coordinating 
the review will be FPCC’s responsibility. FPCC will cover the costs and honoraria for the PRC. 

 
4. Is the contractor expected to establish an Advisory Committee to guide the project? 

 
Yes, the contractor is expected to establish, jointly with FPCC, an Advisory Committee of up to 8 B.C. 
First Nations experts in culture, heritage, repatriation, and in conducting cost analyses. The purpose 
of the Advisory Committee will be to guide the project by meeting 3-4 times to review and provide 
feedback and direction on the project methodology and outcomes. The contractor will be 
responsible for coordinating the process and covering the costs and honoraria for the Advisory 
Committee.  
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5. Can FPCC be flexible with the project timeline? 
 
The current timeline will allow 14 months (January 2023-March 2024) for the completion of the 
project. The project must be fully completed by March 2024. This includes a fully designed report, 
with the design approved by FPCC. The design cost should be part of the budget. It can take up to 4 
weeks to complete design work, and the timeline should reflect this.  

 
6. Can FPCC provide a budgetary range for the funds available for this project? 

 
FPCC is not able to provide a budgetary range for this project as this is a competitive bidding 
process. Please arrange a meeting with Paulina@fpcc.ca to learn more about what you should be 
considering in your budget or the scope of the project. This will help you to understand the 
workload and budget.  

 
7. Can FPCC provide more information on the scope of this study? 

 
For the scoping exercise portion of the project, contractors will be expected to work with a 
minimum of 4-6 B.C. First Nations, a minimum of 3-5 First Nations museums and/or cultural 
organizations, and at least 1 non-Indigenous museum to learn more about the needs and costs 
associated with the repatriation. This work can be done virtually, and no site visits are expected. It is 
expected that the B.C. First Nations museums and communities be diversely located across the 
province in different language groups. As part of the scoping exercise, it will be important to 
understand how Indigenous law and process support repatriation. Another important part of this 
research is to understand various models for repatriation and what is successful or challenging. 
What are the specific repatriation supports and needs for the selected First Nations communities 
and museums? 
 
Using data collected through research and interviews, the cost-analysis should provide a 
comprehensive assessment of costs for B.C. First Nations undertaking repatriation work. From this 
data, the contractor will be expected to draw meaningful conclusions about the overall cost of 
repatriation in B.C. This should include a presentation of alternate scenarios, cost modelling, and 
projections, to the degree that it is possible to apply the data collected.  This will likely require the 
expertise of someone skilled in this type of analysis, such as an economist or accountant.  
 
The contractor will also be expected to cover costs for honorariums for interviews. Focus groups and 
site visits are not an expectation of this process, but the contractor will likely have to engage in one-
on-one discussions with First Nations museum staff. Staff from government and university museums 
will not require honorarium. 
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8. What are the project goals and objectives? 
 
The overarching goal of this project is to conduct a robust (1) scoping exercise and (2) cost analysis 
to understand the repatriation needs of B.C. First Nations with awareness and recognition that each 
First Nation is unique and will have different needs, capacities, and interests.  

 
For this project, the terms of the scoping exercise include the contractor researching, analyzing and 
presenting general information about: 

• Case studies of specific approaches and models for repatriation of B.C. First Nations cultural 
treasures and ancestors: at minimum 3-5 case studies, as needed 

• Repatriation legislation, practices and policies in B.C., Canada and other countries: a general 
overview and basic comparative analysis is expected. An in-depth review is not expected.  

• Canadian legal, policy and procedural requirements according to the nature/material for the 
repatriation process (metal, wood, ancestors, cultural treasures, etc.): a general review is 
expected, as may be relevant to informing the cost analysis.   

• Research and articulation of past (pre-contact) and current burial practices for First Nations in 
B.C.: a general review is expected and an analysis of implications for the cost of repatriation.  

• National and international institutions potentially housing ancestors and cultural treasures: A list 
of institutions potentially housing ancestors and cultural treasures relevant to B.C. First Nations.  

• The ancestors and cultural treasures currently held in museums and institutions across B.C.: An 
estimate of ancestors and cultural treasures is expected, not a detailed inventory.  

• Previous repatriation grants and programs in B.C. to understand the current needs (training, 
funding, capacity, etc.) for B.C. First Nations: This should focus on programs/grants specifically 
focused on repatriation work, along with general descriptions of program requirements. Other 
programs should be listed, but with the caveat that they are not exclusive to funding 
repatriation work.  

• Consensus-building and collaborative approaches in shared territory between First Nations for 
repatriation or caretaking of cultural treasures and ancestors: A general overview of methods 
and approaches is expected.  

• A review of how UNDRIP can support the repatriation of ancestors and cultural treasures for 
B.C. First Nations: A general review and analysis of UNDRIP/DRIPA is expected, including how it 
may support the repatriation of ancestors and cultural treasures, and the TRC’s Calls to Action.  

• A review of the Native American Grave Protections and Repatriations Act and how it is 
implemented/managed by the States, American Tribes and museums: A general review is 
expected, including some basic comparative analysis/commentary on the differences between 
Canadian and American approaches to managing repatriation.  
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9. What is expected in the budget? 
 
The following is a list of potential roles and items that may be in the budget, but these roles and items 
are not limited and will depend on the team and capacities. For example, a subject matter expert may 
also be a researcher/writer, and project coordinator.  
 

• Researcher/writer 

• Subject matter experts in repatriation and economic analysis 

• Project coordinator 

• Admin support staff 

• Research 

• Interviews 

• Honoraria 

• Transcription 

• Report editing and design 

• Two Indigenous interns  

• Peer Review Committee 

• Advisory Committee 

• Supplies and materials 
 

 Please note that this is not an all-inclusive list of items that may be in the budget.  
 
10.  Can you explain the cost analysis more? 

 
This work will require engaging with a minimum of 4-6 B.C. First Nations, who have carried out 
repatriation projects, to understand the needs specific to the diverse cultural and language groups and 
their teachings and regions. It will also require engaging with B.C. museums and institutions to broadly 
determine what ancestors and cultural treasures are held in their collections, and the costs to support 
B.C. First Nations during the repatriation processes. At a minimum, the cost analysis will include the 
following: 

 
1. Partnering with selected B.C. First Nations to understand and prepare a cost analysis associated 

with implementing community-based repatriation processes, including, but not limited to, the 

costs associated with: 

• Carrying out the work required to complete research for First Nations to articulate legal 
traditions and protocols related to the repatriation and caring for ancestors and cultural 
treasures 

• Developing and implementing specific B.C. First Nations repatriation processes. For 
example, conducting research; developing a repatriation strategy; engaging with the 
community, Elders and Knowledge Keepers; and building consensus on community 
direction  
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• Building and/or maintaining existing infrastructure to support housing the repatriated 
cultural treasures and ancestors 

• Transporting and caring for ancestors and cultural treasures and holding the necessary 
ceremonies and engagements 

• B.C. First Nations developing databases to support this process and recommending 
effective databases and approaches that recognize data sovereignty and FPIC  

• Determining the funding required for FPCC to deliver repatriation grants and provide 
outreach to support the granting process  

The contractor is expected to engage at minimum 4-6 B.C. First Nations in the study to prepare 
the cost analysis.  

2. Working with select First Nations museums and other related organizations/groups to assess the 
funding required to support their internal capacity to engage in repatriation work: The 
contractor is expected to work with a minimum of 3-5 B.C. First Nations museums and/or 
cultural organizations to assess funding requirements.  

3. Conducting research and engagement with partnering First Nations and museums to prepare a 
costing for First Nations who are engaging in all stages of repatriation of ancestors and cultural 
treasures. This cost analysis should reflect the diverse cultural groups, traditions, histories, 
languages, protocols and regions in B.C. 

4. A general cost estimate for repatriation work with 1-2 large museums in B.C. and at least 2 non-
museum entities, such as UBC, SFU and UVIC. 

5. Recommendations on how to support First Nation’s repatriation efforts provincially & nationally 

11. What should be included in the proposal? 
 
The following is a list of key items that the proposal should provide information on: 
 

• Team, including how many members are from a B.C. First Nation 

• Team members’ roles and responsibilities, expertise and past relevant work/projects 

• Approach and proposed project methodology for the research and cost analysis, remember to 
factor in modelling  

• Timeline/phases and deliverables 

• A detailed budget, including rates of consultants and for honorariums  

• PRC and Advisory Group involvement 

• Quality control  

• Type of data that will be produced from research and in the format it will be presented.  
 
12. What can be expected during the proposal evaluation process? 
 
All proposals will be formally evaluated, and the top three candidates will be invited for an interview. 
FPCC is likely to request additional information throughout the selection process. A minimum of 2 
references will be required.  


